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 my dearest friend and most exacting reader


And in loving memory of my father,
 Michael Patrick Sullivan












They cannot imagine that the things they lived for could disappear. They cannot believethat something essential could disappear, that a whole spiritual realm is threatened. They do not believe in major historical upheavals that obliterate all traces of previous generations and entirely transform continents. They do not believe that what seems to them unjust is possible.


ANTOINE DE SAINT-EXUPRY


There is no escape from yesterday because yesterday has deformed us, or been deformed by us.


SAMUEL BECKETT
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THE ROAD OUT





It was slightly after 4 A.M. on the morning of September 25, 1940, when Lisa Fittko opened the door of the inn in the seaport town of Banyuls-sur-Mer and looked apprehensively up avenue Puig del Mas. After seven years on the run, she had grown adept at controlling her panic. She looked across at the harbor and listened for the sound of the waves beating on the shore. She tried to match her breathing to that calming rhythm. She glanced at the mayors office on the central square. The gendarmes would not be arriving for hours yet. Up the avenue to the right, she noted that the vineyard workers had already begun to come out of their houses. It was time to leave.


She turned to the two people behind her and told them to put on the espadrilles they would need for the rough climb up the mountain. She gestured for them to follow her and reminded them again not to speak. Their German accents would betray them. The woman was a stranger to her, but Lisa believed she could be trusted not to lose her nerve. The boy, just sixteen, had been through enough to know the danger they were in. The two had understood immediately when she told them there was always someone watching and they must carry nothing but a small knapsack in order not to draw attention to themselves. Not that they had anything to carry. They had already lost everything.


The three walked slowly up the avenue, the women first, the boy trailing behind. In the waning moonlight, Lisa could make out the silhouette of the church tower. Only the previous week she had sat in its garden, contemplating the autumn butterflies gorging on the last sweet tastes of life. On that day, the Spanish simplicity of the churchs faade with its three bells consoled her and the gothic mausoleums lined up like sentinels in the graveyard had made her think, then, of sanctuary. Now, though, the idea of the dead witnessing this flight through the blackness made her shudder.


She thought of her husband, Hans, who was still in Marseille. Hed sent her these strangers to guide over the mountains to freedom. For a moment she was almost angry with him. Why was it always they who had to risk their lives to save someone else? Theyd been fighting Fascism since 1933 when Hitler first came to power and theyd fled, distributing anti-Fascist tracts as they ran across borders, first Czechoslovakia, then Switzerland, and now France. She knew that Hans was constitutionally incapable of abandoning his convictions. They were young, he said, and someone had to stay and fight.


She turned left at the railway bridge and her companions quietly followed. Now came the precipitous climb up stone steps into the vineyards. She could feel the cold wind, the tramontane, against her cheeks, bringing the exhilarating smell of the sea and lifting her courage. They mingled amid the vineyard workers who were moving casually through the darkness, their spades slung over their shoulders, their cabecs for carrying earth swinging with the motion of their footsteps. The workers were pointedly ignoring them. It was not the first time they had seen worried strangers slipping over the mountains. A year ago the refugees had been pouring into France because of the Spanish Civil War. Now the flight was reversed, back into Spain, away from the Gestapo and the French police, away from a country trapped in the totalitarian vise of irrational hatred. Lisa knew the vineyard workers, so accepting of lifes patient seasonal pace, would not betray them.
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Lisa Fittko.


She could smell the mature grapes hanging from the vines and felt their weight. The ritual of the harvest was about to begin. It shocked her to think about how life continued, oblivious to her fear. The light was lifting, and she glanced up at the hills to see if the border patrols, the gardes mobiles, were already on duty. If the three of them were spotted, she could offer no explanation for the presence of two women and a boy making their way through the alleys of vines up into the mountain. They would be arrested as apatrides, stateless people, without the papers that gave them the right to be walking on this ancient ground. It would mean immediate transportation to an internment camp.


They moved up, still unnoticed, into the foothills. Lisa looked at the crude chart on the paper she held in her hand. She noted theyd passed the empty stable marked on the map. They were obviously going in the right direction. Then they reached the huge landmark boulder.


Now she was looking for the old man. Yesterday she had wanted these people to see the climb they were in for and so shed walked them up to the meadow. The daytime hikers were not suspicious and no one had stopped them. The old man had insisted on carrying his black leather briefcase. In frustration, she tried to dissuade him. She was sure the heavy briefcase would give them away, but he said it contained his new manuscript, which he valued more than his life. Then, to her shock, when theyd reached the meadow, he refused to return to the town. He was halfway, he said. He could not climb down and start again from the bottom. He was going to sleep on the mountain overnight. He would meet them in the morning.


In the distance she saw his body stretched out on the ground, there, where she had left him. She ran to him. Her first thought was that he had died in the night, probably from the cold. He had nothing to cover him. Wild bulls and other animals roamed the mountainous terrain. And smugglers. But he opened his eyes and smiled up amiably at her. Clearly in pain, he stood up slowly. It was then she noticed that his eyes were rimmed with dark red spots. Responding to her shock, he took off his glasses: Its the dew, he reassured her. See, the rims of the spectacle frames. The color rubs off when they get wet.1


She stared down at Walter Benjamin. He was only forty-eight, but he looked frail and old. He had already survived so much. She and Hans had known him in Berlin and they had met again in France where he had immigrated in 1933. But in September 1939, as soon as war was declared, the French government rounded up all German nationals as enemy aliens, and Benjamin and Hans Fittko found themselves imprisoned together in the Vernuche internment camp. Benjamin had a serious heart condition, and Hans helped him survive through the long agonizing months until they were both released. Once the Germans advanced toward Paris in June 1940, Benjamin made his way to Marseille. With the help of American sponsors, he managed to get an emergency visa for the United States from the American consulate, but then the problem was that there was no legal way of getting out of the country. Benjamin and a friend once even tried to disguise themselves as French sailors and bribe their way aboard a freighter. With the scholarly Benjamin carrying his black briefcase, they hadnt gotten far and luckily hadnt been arrested. Thats when he ran into Hans. Hans knew Benjamin was trapped. No one could leave France without an exit visa. And Vichy officials werent about to give a visa to someone as famous as Benjamin, who was, in any case, probably on the Nazis black list. No one on that list could even bribe his way out of France. Benjamin had to be smuggled out. Hans sent him to Lisa.


It was presumptuous, yet astute, of Hans to count on her. In fact, she had indeed found a secret route over the Spanish border. He knew she would. It had happened so fast. She had made friends with the dockworkers in the port, who directed her to a sympathetic man named Azma, the mayor of the town of Banyuls. When she arrived at his office, Azma immediately understood the purpose of her visit. Locking the door, he drew her the map of a secret escape route across the Pyrenees and spent hours with her explaining the details. He told her that if she and Hans wanted to help refugees escape over the border, he would find them a house in Banyuls. In the meantime, she should stay at the local inn and learn the habits of the townspeople.


When Benjamin had arrived on her doorstep, she had been shocked to see him. How could Hans think this old man could possibly make the grueling trek over the mountains? Nevertheless she told him about Azmas escape route, warning him that it was risky and had not yet been tested. No matter, as long as the route is safe. Not to go. That would be the real risk, he said.2 Then, apologizing for his intrusion, he asked if he could bring two other friends along. Frau Gurland and her sixteen-year-old son, Jos, were also in danger. The world is falling to pieces, she thought, but Benjamins courtesy is unshakeable.3


Lisa looked at the mayors sketch of the route. Hed drawn it from memory, and she hoped it was accurate. As soon as Benjamin composed himself, they began the climb. Benjamin established their rhythm. He could walk for ten minutes and then had to rest, but his pace was constant and methodical. He said he had calculated the pace out during the night before. I can go all the way to the end using this method, he said. I stop at regular intervalsI must pause before Im exhausted. One must not completely overspend ones strength.4


Lisa and the boy took the briefcase from Benjamin. It was agonizingly slow, but she noted they passed the workers hut that was marked on the map. They were on the right track. Then suddenly in front of them was another signpost, a high plateau with seven pines. Now they moved slowly along the rocky path concealed by the cliff overhang. She told the others not to speak. They might be heard by the border guards patrolling just above their heads. Next there was a near impossible, almost vertical climb through a vineyard. This was the only moment Benjamin faltered. Steeling himself, he tried his best to climb, but it was clear he wasnt going to be able to make it on his own. Lisa and Jos each took an arm and dragged him as well as his briefcase to the top of the ridge of rock. They rested for some time and then began the final climb. Benjamin had been walking seven hours, but somehow he kept his pace, and at last they were on the crest of the mountain. There they stopped. The view was magnificent. They could see both the French and Spanish coasts. The sun was overhead now, turning the sea into a dazzling white and turquoise blur. Below them was the Spanish border post and the town of Portbou.


Lisa knew that it was time for her to turn back now, but she continued to accompany them down the mountain. The canteen of water she had brought had long been emptied. They approached a scum-covered pool. Benjamin stooped to drink. When Lisa cried out in panic that the water was polluted, Benjamin replied that he had no choice. You must understand, he said. The worst thing that could happen is that I might die of typhoid feverafter I have crossed the border. The gestapo can no longer arrest me, and the manuscript will have reached safety. You must pardon me, please, gndige Frau.5


It was 2 P.M. when they reached a cliff wall. The town of Portbou lay in the sleepy valley below. Lisa was now in danger. She had no authorization to be in Spain. She told Benjamin and his companions that they must go on alone. They had made it through. All they needed to do now was to register with the Spanish border guards. They had all the necessary travel documents and their Spanish and Portuguese transit visas. It was well known that the Spanish were willing to overlook the absence of French exit permits. She assured the nervous Benjamin that he would be given an entry stamp and would soon be on his way to Lisbon. She watched the trio descend. From the back, Benjamin looked stooped over and exhausted carrying his now reclaimed briefcase.


Lisa began the climb back up the mountain, confident that she had just guided one of the twentieth centurys greatest intellectuals to freedom. The ascent over the crest had taken ten hours, but young and fit, she managed the descent in two.


Disastrously, when Benjamin and the Gurlands reached the Spanish border post to request their entry stamps, they were informed that a few days earlier a decree had been issued that prohibited people without nationality from traveling through Spain.6 Though he had lived in France seven years, Benjamin did not have French citizenship and, with the Nazis in power, no longer held a valid German passport. In fact, all three of them were stateless people. An hour of begging and showing their various papers and letters of recommendation proved useless. They were brutally told that they would be escorted back to the French border in the morning. Jos and Benjamin would certainly end up in a German concentration camp.


The three friends were allowed to spend the night, under guard, at the Hotel de Francia near the Portbou police station. Frau Gurland reported what happened next. At 7 A.M. Benjamin called her to his room. He told her he had taken large quantities of morphine at 10 the previous evening and that she should try to present the matter as an illness.7 He then handed her a letter.


When Frau Gurland called a doctor and asked that Benjamin be taken to hospital, the doctor diagnosed a cerebral apoplexy and refused to take any responsibility, since Benjamin was already moribund. Terrified for herself and her son, she spent a frantic day trying to get his death certificate signed. She then bought a grave for Benjamin. After significant amounts of money changed hands, she and her son finally received their entry stamps and were allowed to proceed through Spain.


Frau Gurland read the letter. It contained five lines saying that he, Benjamin, could not go on, did not see any way out.8 Since Benjamin had advised her to hide his suicide from officials, she destroyed the letter.


In the death register at Portbou, among the personal items left behind by the deceased was listed a black leather briefcase, and within it unos papeles mas de contenido desconocidowith papers of unknown content.9 The briefcase and papers were never recovered.











THE PHOTOGRAPH





In the photograph a man and a woman sit like birds in the branches of a tree and look down at the camera. Despite the danger of their perch, they look comfortable. The tree is a plane tree, huge, with branches the thickness of trunks. The day is warm. The man has rolled up his shirtsleeves and the woman is wearing slacks and a light sweater. He stretches out on a branch, embracing it with his right arm, and reaches down with his left hand to touch her shoulder. She sits on a lower branch, one leg extended, the other bent at the knee. She leans back, bracing herself with her right hand as if she were posing on a comfortable couch rather than twenty feet up in the air. It is impossible to tell how they got up there. If they used a ladder it has been taken away. It is probably early spring. The tree is naked without a single leaf to obscure its beautifully mottled bark. The sun pours down in drifts and the sky in this black and white photograph is obviously a perfect cerulean blue. The man and the woman are hanging paintings from the branches of the tree. They smile down on us as we look up with concern. The caption reads: Varian Fry and Consuelo de Saint-Exupry in the branches of a tree at Villa Air-Bel, outside Marseilles, 1940 or 41.
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Varian Fry and Consuelo de Saint-Exupry.


Varian Fry is familiar to me. As a young man in his early thirties, he traveled to Marseille as the representative of the American Emergency Rescue Committee. In June 1940, after the Germans invaded France and the fall of the country seemed imminent, the committee had been hastily assembled in New York with the express purpose of saving European artists and intellectuals. European migrs who had already escaped to the United States knew that the Nazis kept a secret list of political and intellectual enemies who had stood against them during the 1930s. The Nazis would now be searching for them. It was imperative to get them out of France. Then, alarmingly, at the end of June the new Vichy government blindly signed an armistice that included an article whereby France agreed to surrender on demand all German nationals requested for extradition by the Third Reich. If there had been any doubt before, it was now clear. The hunt was afoot and the Nazis had murder in mind.1


The image of the beautiful young El Salvadoran Consuelo de Saint-Exupry conjures up the memory of her dashing husband, the pilot Antoine de Saint-Exupry, author of The Little Prince. Sometime later, in 1944, his plane disappeared over the Mediterranean on a reconnaissance flight.


But what is the Villa Air-Bel where the photo was taken? In my mind I see the villa, a large nineteenth-century home, multishuttered with an extensive terrace sheltered by plane trees. In that house certain individuals gathered against the onslaught of war. What moves me about the uncannily beautiful photograph is the contrast between the frivolity of the adventurehanging paintings in tree branchesand the world outside its frame. The world had been edging slowly toward total conflagration and, by the time the photograph was taken, had turned deadly.


Villa Air-Bel was the residence of a group of artists and intellectuals waiting to escape Francesome waited for up to two yearsand also of the young Americans who decided to risk their lives to rescue them. The photograph poses so many questions.


Wars build slowly, cumulatively, often years before the history books date their beginnings. Who were the artists at the Villa Air-Bel, and how did they get caught in the deadly web? How did they not see the war coming and escape in time? Did they refuse to believe war could happen, or did they believe that, if it did come, it could only touch others? Nameless, abstract others.


Long before the bombs fell and soldiers and civilians died, long before extermination camps did their work of horror, there was the war of nerves, the propaganda war being fought for peoples minds. Despite the stories that are told in retrospect where everything is clear and predictable, it is never easy to decipher where the real enemy is or who will be the victim. In France the illusion of normalcy was sustained for years. And then, in a moment, the world collapsed like a burnt husk. Millions of people were blindsided. Despite the ominous signs, they could not believe a world war could happen. Not a second time.
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Villa Air-Bel.


And who were these young rescuers at the Villa Air-Bel? What convinces young people to risk their lives saving others? Is it a matter of temperament, or does this transformation happen gradually, by a series of spontaneous decisions, until there is no other choice, until the risk has already been taken? As in every war, there are victims and there are rescuers. And there are the murderers and those who stand by passively and watch.


Why did you not leave France in 1939? I once asked the artist Leonora Carrington, then the lover of the surrealist painter Max Ernst, who, though he had lived in France seventeen years, had not become a French citizen. The French imprisoned him in September 1939 as an enemy alien.2 We should have left France after Max was arrested the first time, she said. But we couldnt imagine a world other than Paris. You must remember what Paris was in those days, before the war. Paris was wonderful. Paris was freedom.


In France people soon learned how quickly everything could change. Suddenly destinies ceased to be a matter of personal control. The life and death of any individual became merely something to be haggled over in bureaucratic ministries: who was an alien, who should be imprisoned as an enemy alien, who should be deported to certain death. Not chance, not contingency, but someone else, a stranger, arbitrarily decided who lived and who died.


I want to ask what it feels like to move from freedom to occupation: to feel threatened, administered, restrained? Suddenly bits of bureaucratic paper control ones life and death. The words prohibited, investigated, imprisoned enter ones vocabulary and everything is uncertainlife, home, children, lovers. All can be taken away or left behind.


Villa Air-Bel sat like a stone interrupting the stream in a handful of lives. It was their unexpected destiny. Multiple trajectories brought individuals who would otherwise never have encountered one another to a villa in the South of France. Over the course of many months they waited through the terrors and deprivations of war. And then they scattered in different directions, some unchanged, others changed forever. This book is their story.











THE DINNER PARTY


Late October 1940




It is hard for me to put into words what I felt at this time without surrendering to hyperbole: I can still see myself standing on Air-Bels terrace in the late afternoon sunshine, the great golden leaves of the plane tree drifting down around me. I knew that this was a moment of rare privilege. Somehow through a strange confluence of chance encounters and unlikely coincidences, I had been swept into a place where grief, consternation, disillusionment, and anger had become the gentle servants of justice. That space had now been expanded to accommodate delight.


MIRIAM DAVENPORT1








Sometime in the early eighteenth century a prominent bourgeois family named Castellane bought an eighty-five-acre property outside the city of Marseille. The estate called La Castellane was mostly farmland, with fruit trees and wild herbs scenting the meadows. The Huveaune River ran through it and to the south the limestone escarpment of Saint-Cyr rose like a gray monolith covered with a stain of thin scrub. In the distance it was possible to catch just a glimpse of the turquoise-blue sea.


In the mid-nineteenth century, the estate was sold to the Thumin family, who built an imposing villa on its highest hill. They called it Villa Air-Bel because of the fresh breeze carried in from the sea. A second residence, a traditional two-story modest house, La Castellane, was named in memory of the propertys ancient ancestry. Sliced in two by the new railroad in 1858, the estate came to include two tenanted farms and three market gardens. By 1915 the surviving Thumins, Dr. Thumin and his two sisters, had come down in the world and resorted to renting out the Villa Air-Bel on weekends and summers. The suburbs of Marseille by then encircled the property, and the villa could be reached by the local tramline.


Its not clear whether Dr. Thumin and his sisters ever occupied Villa Air-Bel. They seemed to have preferred the cramped quarters of La Castellane. Unable to find renters in the depressed economy of the 1930s, they had let the villa deteriorate. By 1940 Air-Bel had already stood vacant for a number of years, its gardens overrun and its hedges untrimmed.


To reach the Villa Air-Bel, which stood several hundred yards to the east of La Castellane, one climbed a long steep laneway between plane trees interlaced with giant cedars and then passed through an entranceway framed by imposing red brick pillars capped with white stone. On a large terrace rose the rectangular three-story stone building with double-paneled iron shutters covering the large windows on the ground floor. The eighteen-room villa was now a slightly faded image of its original self, but it still gave the impression of reserved elegance.


A graveled terrace ran the length of the house, shaded by three magnificent plane trees, and, on the west side, a greenhouse was tucked in among the palms. To the left and right of the terrace were stairs leading down to a small French garden, its overgrown flower beds framed by boxwood hedges and alleys of rosebushes. The centerpiece of this garden was a pond in which stood a lovely stone fountain.





It is late October 1940. Twelve adults and two children are seated around the table in the gloomy dining room. Little light penetrates the rooms dark corners, so that the tattered condition of the torn mock leather walls and leather-backed chairs is obscured. An over-varnished landscape of the French countryside hangs above the ornately carved sideboard. The room gives an impression of old world elegance. In the center of the table, camouflaged by branches and green leaves, are two large triangular-headed insects. They are praying mantises. The male has just mounted the female and she has turned back and begun slowly to eat her mate.


The people around the table are laughing. Or at least some of them are. The entertainment is a substitute for food. Even though everyone has contributed ration stamps, the meal Madame Nouget, the cook, has managed to cobble together is still meager. But there is plenty of cheap red wine and a polenta pudding made palatable with grapo sweetener.


There are two masters of ceremony at this table. At one end sits Andr Breton, the poet who invented surrealism. It is he who brought the praying mantises in from the garden. He is one of those men whose almost unbearable radiance provokes (try as he might to soften the shock) a sudden disequilibrium, the feeling the ground is crumbling beneath ones feet.2 So a young female friend remembered him. But Bretons magnetism is equally seductive to men and to women. His style is one of irony: a quality of reserved self-assurance. Everyone notes his remarkable head, almost too large for his body, with the mane of hair that cascades back from his high forehead, still chestnut-brown though he is now forty-four. (He carries his imposing head like a chip on the shoulder, his friend Man Ray said.3) But it is really the mouth, the lower lip, prominent and fleshy, that makes him so seductive. And the jade-green eyes. It is impossible to imagine a more willful and yet inviting face. Breton is an artist in exile in his own country, trapped, like the others at this table, and hoping to leave. Attacks against his work in the right-wing collaborationist press have been increasing. France has become a dangerous place.


Beside him sits his wife, Jacqueline Lamba. Only thirty, with a leonine blond mane every bit as impressive as her husbands, she is nicknamed Bastille Day for her tempestuous personality. She is an intelligent woman, both a painter and a writer, who had been making her living as a nude underwater dancer at the Colisum music hall in Montmartre when Breton first met her. He always says that at their first meeting at the Caf de la Place Blanche he felt her presence before he saw hershe gave the illusion of moving about, in broad daylight, within the gleam of a lamp and was scandalously beautiful.4 On the other side of him sits their daughter, Aube, on whom he dotes and who, though she is only five, often serves as his intermediary when things are not going well with his young wife. When she was only eight months old, he wrote his daughter an outrageous letter: For a long time, I thought it was the gravest insanity to give life. In any case I held it against those who had given it to me.5 This was more than a pose. Breton has spent half a lifetime fighting against the conventionality of his impossibly correct lower-middle-class childhood. He detests correctness. His ambition is to reinvent the human mind.
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Andr Breton.


The other master at the table, diametrically opposite, is Victor Serge. If, for Breton, finding himself in peril because of his writing is a new experience, for Serge it is all too familiar. He is almost a professional refugeethis is his fourth exile, his seventh flight in twenty years.6 Now he is cornered, and awaiting his final escape at the villa. Born in 1890 in Belgium and on his own from the age of thirteen, he saw Russia, the country of his ancestry, for the first time in early 1919 when he arrived to participate in the Russian Revolution. All his Bolshevik comrades are now dead, having been exterminated in the Stalinist purges. Writing in French, he has become a noted novelist and historian. He is a mild-looking professorial figure, with steel-rimmed glasses and disheveled gray hair that he attempts to control under a French beret. Listening to him talk, say the others, is like reading a Russian novel. At the age of fifty, he is as clear-eyed as anyone at the table about what is happening to France.


Next to Victor Serge sits his companion, Laurette Sjourn. She is dark-haired and quiet, and can be flirtatious when she wants to be. Twenty years younger than Serge, she is tiny and very beautiful. She is reserved and has reason to be so. Unlike anyone in the room except Serge himself, she understands the full dimensions of the danger he, and therefore she, is in. She would later say that she had been too young to marry himhis life too full of tragedy and darkness for her to understand.7


On his other side sits his twenty-year-old son, Vlady. Already a gifted painter, he mostly keeps to himself sketching in the garden. He is a survivor, along with his father, of Siberian exile, and is adept at improvising. He will endear himself to his fellow refugees at the villa by making rolls from dried fruits and nuts collected in the garden, which will ameliorate their hunger in a period of near famine. Serge is desperate to leave France but refuses to do so without his son, who is of an age to be vulnerable to imprisonment or forced labor. And so they both wait anxiously, hoping for visas to America.
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From left: Charles Wolff, Victor Serge, Benjamin Pret, and Andr Breton on the terrace at Villa Air-Bel.


In a few months time, several other artists will take up residence at the Villa Air-Bel. After his release from prison a second time, the painter Max Ernst will find shelter here, joined briefly by Peggy Guggenheim. And also the French poet Benjamin Pret and his lover, the Catalan painter Remedios Varo. Their wait for rescue will be the most harrowing and most protracted of all the villas inhabitants.


For these artists, life before the war had mostly been comfortable. They spent their days working in their Paris rooms and their evenings in fashionable cafs. In short, they were Frances elite artists. Now they live in fear, fleeing for their lives.


At the same table are a motley crew of young people ranging in age from twenty-five to thirty-three, people who, perhaps even to their own surprise, find themselves among those willing to put their lives at risk to save the lives of others.


An American heiress named Mary Jayne Gold is one of the most compelling. Aged thirty-one and single, Gold is willful and used to doing things her own way. At the beginning of the war in September 1939, the American ambassador, William C. Bullitt, had called on all Americans to return to the United States, but Gold stayed on.8 She describes herself as an upper-class WASP born in Chicago, educated in New York, and finished at private school in Italy. She has spent the last ten years living off her trust fund in Europe, dividing her time between Paris, London, the Riviera, and fashionable ski resorts in Switzerland. Beautiful and blond, in her designer clothes, the owner of a Daimler car and Vega Gull airplane, she might easily be taken for simply frivolous, but underneath she has a great sense of humor, loves danger, and is deeply generous. She has been pulled into the war by helping some friends leave Paris and she is still helping.


Seated beside her is Miriam Davenport, age twenty-five, a tiny, feisty young woman. In physical appearance she is plain, almost school-marmish, dressing conventionally and wearing her long hair in braids, which she winds around her head. She grew up in New Rochelle, New York. Shortly before her graduation from Smith College in 1937, her father and then her mother died suddenly. The shock was brutally painful. In addition, she found herself in debt and in charge of her ten-year-old brother. She decided on a masters degree in art history, which she hoped would then allow her to get work and reestablish her family. The summer of 1938, after asking an uncle to take care of her younger brother on his farm in North Carolina, she headed to France on a Carnegie scholarship. She was halfway through a licence libre and about to write her exams when the Germans invaded France in June 1940 and the University of Paris closed down. She headed south, only to be caught up in the exodus of people fleeing the German advance. While she waits in Marseille for a visa to Yugoslavia, where she hopes to be reunited with her boyfriend, she has decided to make herself useful by working for refugees.



Varian Fry sits opposite. He has just turned thirty-three. Though he trusts Miriam Davenport completely and has come to depend on her, he still thinks Mary Jayne Gold is a dilettante. Even so, her money, generously given, is quietly supporting much of his operation. For the moment, Fry is the most important person in the room. He is the reason they are all here.


Varian Fry had arrived in Marseille on August 14 intending to stay three weeks. He had been sent by the Emergency Rescue Committee, which was just thatan American committee hastily put together by European exiles and New York liberals who suddenly understood that the Nazis were hunting down artists and intellectuals in France. Fry had been given a list of two hundred people he was meant to save. Assured that things could be handled expeditiously, hed taken a months leave from his job. He knew little about social work or clandestine activity. In fact he was a classical scholar, but he spoke French and German and was devoted to art. The idea of saving artists in danger appealed to his sense of adventure and justice.


The day he walked out of Marseilles gare Saint-Charles in his Brooks Brothers suit and Homburg hat, he looked out of placea Harvard boy, slightly self-righteous, publicly unflappable, and deeply out of his depth. Yet now, two and a half months after his arrival, the forthright gaze behind his tortoiseshell glasses inspires confidence. It is his American directness and cordiality that people find reassuring. And in late October here is Fry at the Villa Air-Bel, having set up Marseilles most impressive clandestine escape route out of France.


And then there is Daniel Bndite. Twenty-nine years old and a committed Socialist, he had been working in the Prfecture de Police in Paris before the war. Refugee organizations knew he was the one to go to when they needed help. He was the one who could cut through the red tape. Indeed, it was through him that supporters had been able to get a residence permit for Victor Serge in 1936 after he was released from Siberian exile and was left stateless. Danny Bndite is in Marseille because he could not imagine staying in Paris and working for the Germans. Although he has just been hired by Fry, he has already become Frys right hand. He is a methodical, sober young man, always ready to scathingly dismiss those he thinks are drawn to the cloak and dagger romance of rescue work. He detests uncalculated risks.9 He sits with his British wife, Theo, and their two-year-old son, Pierre, whom they affectionately call Peterkin.
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Varian Fry and Miriam Davenport.


There are two other ERC workers living at the villa. Jean Gemhling is a young, blond, blue-eyed Frenchman from Strasbourg who speaks perfect English, having been sent to a British public school by his professor father. He is very shy and is soon to fall in love with one of the villas most dramatic and frequent visitors, Consuelo de Saint-Exupry. Gemhling is Bndites friend, a fellow survivor of the battle at Dunkerque. He is waiting to get to Britain, where he hopes to join the forces of General Charles de Gaulle fighting for a free France. And lastly, there is Marcel Verzeano, whom everyone calls Maurice, a young Romanian just out of the Paris Faculty of Medicine, whom Fry hired to help his fleeing refugee clients, some of whom were ill or on the verge of mental breakdown but too frightened to show their faces in a doctors office.


Despite the good humor, the games being instigated by Andr Breton with his macabre praying mantises, and the astonishing conversation led by Victor Serge that covers decades of cultural and political history, there is fear in this room. Outside, the French police and even the Gestapo are circling. No one knowsnot if, but whenthe police will knock. What is initiated from this roomthe saving of innocent refugees from deportation and deathis no longer legal. Each person here is aware that the police are keeping files on them all. The situation is very unstable. At any moment their rescue activities could become a treasonable act, punishable by imprisonment and possibly worse. The young Americans believe that being U.S. citizens protects them, but the others have no such illusions. It is the not knowing that is most unnerving.


The gathering poses multiple questions. Who becomes a refugee? Who becomes a rescuer? How did each person in the room come to decide on which side he or she stood? Was this a choice, or was it, like so many human acts, simply the unforeseen result of a sequence of choices, involving more chance than decision?


And how is it that a peaceful country, committed to principles of freedom and democracy, suddenly finds itself not simply invaded by a foreign army, but ruled by an authoritarian regime with its own Fascist ideology? The greatest threat to the people in this room is, for the moment at least, not the German enemy but their own fellow citizens, supporters of the collaborationist Vichy government.


It has taken more than seven years of cumulative events for these twelve men and women to arrive at this table. For them, it might seem that there is no logic to this forward momentum. Events simply unfolded as everyone looked blindly the other way. In retrospect, however, the momentum appears inexorably unstoppablelike iron filings drawn to a magnet. There was only one possible outcome: this culture of death.


The twelve people around the table momentarily look at one another in amazement, shocked to numbness at the terror in which they find themselves caught. No one could have imagined it, and though they would never wish to return to this horror, they understand its significance. They are being forced to define who they are and what they are capable of. Now they have to decide what they will refuse to lose.











THE HEIRESS





There is a photograph of the young Mary Jayne Gold with her girlfriends aboard the S.S. President Harding in 1929. Shes nineteen and on her way to finishing school in Italy. She is seated in the front row, her large, rather masculine hands resting on one silk-stockinged knee. Perhaps its the way the light falls on her face that spotlights her, picking her out from among the others who look dated, lost in the past in a charming sepia photograph. But she seems immediately present. She looks directly into the camera, her expression challenging, as if she would speak with you. Shes lovely without the least trace of coquetry, and yet theres a certain vulnerability to her gamine gaze.


Anyone on that ship might have dismissed Mary Jayne Gold as just another of those modern rich American girls whom Europeans found so fascinatingso flamboyant in their advanced ideas about sex. She would have laughed and said she had advanced ideas, but a Protestant conscience. Mary Jayne was the daughter of a manufacturing magnate, Egbert Gold, who could trace his New England ancestry back to a signatory of the Connecticut colony charter in the seventeenth century. By selling steam heating equipment for railway cars, Gold had built the family business into an international empire worth millions.


The Gold family lived in Chicago and usually spent their summers at Marigold Lodge, the familys splendid thirty-four-room mansion on Lake Macatawa, Michigan, or aboard the family yacht, the Marigold. The year Mary Jayne turned nineteen, however, her parents decided to send her abroad. They had found an appropriate finishing school in Gazzolo, Italy, run by the Contessa Livia Lazzizi della Rovere-Casey. The contessa housed her exclusive collegio in her family villa, which she had only just managed to salvage by selling the surrounding land and most of the valuable antique furniture. As Mary Jayne boarded the S.S. Harding on her first visit to Europe, America was collapsing into the Great Depression. Shrewd investments, however, had left the Gold family fortune secure.


The curriculum at Collegio Gazzolo was not particularly onerous. There were classes in art, deportment, and languages. There were trips to nearby Verona, Rome, Venice, Florence, Umbria, Naples, and Sicily. Invitations for luncheons and dinners were extended to the sons of appropriate families. They would play the Victrola and dance under the scrutinizing gaze of the contessa. The girls attended operas in the royal box with the King and Queen of Italy and worried over the latest fashions.


Mary Jayne loved much of it, but her intelligence was certainly underchallenged. She was a complex young woman with a good mind and a sense of high principles. She was also a bit wild and loved a good time. So far nothing would have led one to expect anything particularly exceptional from this rich young girl.


November 3, 1928, Mary Jayne received a deep blow. Her father had died after a four-month illness. He was only sixty. He had been the difficult parent, distant and forbidding, so that memories of sailing with him down the Mississippi in the family yacht or making bonfires in the Michigan woods were carefully and perhaps disproportionately treasured. Mary Jayne was devastated. But unexpectedly, with his death, the women in his household were suddenly free. Certainly her mothers life altered irrevocably, and Mary Jayne herself would not likely have become the woman she was had her father lived. She would never have had the freedom (or the substantial annuity) to invent herself.


After two years at the collegio, Mary Jayne told her mother she wanted to take courses at the Sorbonne. Having just restarted her own life after twenty-four years of marriage, Mrs. Gold was more than compliant. Through friends, she found her daughter a respectable Parisian family with whom to board.


Madame Bndite lived with her three children on rue Douanier-Rousseau near the Parc Montsouris in the 14th Arrondissement. Shed had to resort to taking in two or three students, usually Americans, to supplement her income after her divorce.


Mary Jayne arrived in Paris like any young ingnue. It was the city she had been reading about since childhood. Everything was exotic and yet exactly as it should be: the smells of medieval brick churches, of mildewed books in stalls along the Seine; of rank cheeses and wine kegs in street markets where hawkers were shouting their wares. The pavements had been worn down by generations of walkers and the stone steps were indented and polished. The sky of Paris was almost translucent, as though the light were traveling through stained glass windows. The juxtapositions were also marvelous: old women bending over their braziers of roasting chestnuts, and then the legs of men peeing in the pissotires scattered strategically along the boulevards. Unlike life in Chicago or even Italy, there were no taboos here. The most outrageous behavior would earn only a passing glance. Mary Jayne became a passionate Francophile, immersed in what she liked to call the warm whirlpool bath of French culture. She boasted it gave her a certain nimbleness of mind and morals.1


The Bndites became Mary Jaynes second family. Despite their strained circumstances, their house was in the affluent bourgeois section of the artistic district. The painter Georges Barque lived across the street and could often be seen taking in the sun on his balcony. Rue Douanier-Rousseau would later be renamed in his honour. The famous cafs Le Dme and La Coupole were not faraway. From the very first meal at rue du Douanier, Danny Bndite took on the role of Mary Jaynes teasing younger brother. He was studying philosophy at the Sorbonne and engaged in a long-distance romance with his British fiance, Theo. His two sisters also became Mary Jaynes good friends.


Mary Jayne regularly took the leisurely walk to the Sorbonne to attend lectures in French history, art, literature, and law, but she was dabbling. She was only twenty-two, and with the wealth her fathers trust fund now afforded her, she was preparing her assault on the world of fashion. She headed for the Place Vendme.


Napoleon stood on his stone column in the center of the place, encased in the bronze of 1,250 cannons captured at the battle of Austerlitz in 1805. The faades of the petits palais and town houses, commissioned by Louis XIV, now discreetly fronted the shops of some of the most famous names in fashion. There was Coco Chanels salon on the rue Cambon directly behind the Ritz, and nearby the Houses of Lanvin and Vionnet. Mary Jaynes favorite was the House of Schiaparelli on rue de la Paix. (It would be a few years before Schiaparelli would move up the rung to occupy the very classy address21 Place Vendme).


Determined to be  la page, Mary Jayne had selected the designer with a penchant for the outrageous. Schiaparelli was already known for her sportswear (swimsuits with fish motifs), leather unisex flying suits (airplanes were all the rage), and peasant sweaters in art deco patterns. Her colors were black and white, a fanciful touch of Italian morbidezza. But she would not become really infamous until the mid-thirties when Dal became her collaborator, designing a dress for her with trompe loeil drawers and bone handles, a handbag shaped like the newly pervasive telephone, and, most outrageously, an evening gown with orange lobsters crawling their way from hemline to bodice, specially created for the notorious Mrs. Wallis Simpson, mistress to the Prince of Wales.2


Mary Jayne loved Schiaparellis risqu style, which managed to be both elegant and playful, and which had the essential virtue of making one noticed. She chose a Schiaparelli robe sirne, a slinky affair that made her tall figure even taller. The fitting was hellish, what with young women with pins sticking out of their mouths crawling all over her, but the result was spectacular.


Mary Jayne decided to test out her glamorous new wardrobe that summer of 1931 at the fashionable Htel du Palais in Biarritz. Shed brought in tow the youngest Bndite daughter, Zabette, as a kind of shield to fend off importuning lovers. The Htel du Palais was on the site of Villa Eugnie, built by Napoleon III as a summer palace for his wife. The last word in sophisticated elegance, the hotel had housed every sort of European royalty and had lost none of its glitter and ostentation since it was built in 1903 to replace the villa, which had been almost completely destroyed by fire. When Mary Jayne arrived, there were still royals seated in the Imperial Ballroom, now converted into a dining room. On April 14 that year, Spain had been declared a republic, and King Alfonso XIII had gone into exile. Many of the dukes and duchesses who had followed him now filled the tables of the Htel du Palais, impatiently awaiting their imminent return to Spain.


When the matre d escorted Mary Jayne and Zabette to their table that first evening, they were immediately spotted by Ramn Maura. He was the nineteen-year-old son of the Duke of Maura who had been premier to King Alfonso. Mary Jaynes points of reference were romantic novels and movies, and so to find herself surrounded by royalty was seductive. When Zabette returned to school in Paris and she was suddenly unchaperoned and unfettered, she allowed the flirtation with Ramn to continue.


Life in a luxury hotel was certainly pleasant. She loved the way the matre d singled her out with his charming greeting: Mademoiselle, the little duke is waiting for you.3 It was a summer of horseback riding and dinner parties, polo and dancing. There might have been a civil war brewing just over the border in Spain (though it wouldnt break out for another five years), but politics was a matter about which Mary Jayne showed only a cursory interest. Certainly dinner conversation included vitriolic attacks on the Republican and Communist hordes destroying the great Spanish institutions, but Mary Jayne was not taking sides. She was an American democrat.


Ultimately the flirtation petered out when Mary Jayne told the young duke she wouldnt sleep with him. Back in Paris in the fall, her life of professional tourism continued. Although she kept up with her courses at the Sorbonne, the rest of the time she could be found on sightseeing junkets throughout Europe. Certainly part of this was the nomadism that comes with being young and rich and full of enthusiasms. But she also felt an aimlessness that she couldnt exactly put her finger on. She wanted to get her life started but couldnt figure out how. Certainly she had no desire to return to the United States.


Then, unexpectedly, she received a telegram from her mother informing her that she was coming to France. Initially Mrs. Gold set up at the Htel Meurice, an elegant hotel on the rue de Rivoli with the luxury fashion shops of Place Vendme just around the corner. She soon found an apartment on the rue Beethoven right by the Seine, from where, if one leaned far enough out the window, one could see the Eiffel Tower. Mary Jayne moved in with her. Her elder brother, Dick, was also visiting Paris. In the evenings the family would climb into a rented limousine and head out to taste the glamorous nightlife at Pariss botes de nuit like Bricktops and Le Boeuf sur le Tot where everyone came to dance to the new rhythms of the black jazz scene.


Paris was officially conservative, the town where Jean Chiappe, the prfet de police, was famous for once having arrested Marlene Dietrich for wearing trousers in public.4 But among the bohemian underground and in the heady world of haute chic, the nightlife was as wild as it could get.


Bricktops cabaret in Montmartre was named after its proprietress, Bricktop, the red-haired mulatta who was by then a reigning doyenne of the show business scene. F. Scott Fitzgerald was one of the clubs devotees. Bricktop was known to confiscate his wallet for safekeeping when Fitzgerald got so drunk he began to scatter banknotes to the musicians and customers. Bricktops was also a rendezvous spot for the Prince of Wales and the stylish Mrs. Simpson. Duke Ellington and Cole Porter often stopped by. Cole Porter wrote Miss Otis Regrets for Bricktop. The club engaged Louis Armstrong and other celebrity musicians to keep the dance floor rocking. Josephine Baker, the ebony Venus, was still the rage in Paris in the early thirties. She could usually be found at Bricktops when she wasnt dancing at the Casino de Paris, where thousands flocked to see her strip down to her garter belt of bananas singing Jai deux amours.5 Mary Jayne would look back on this time with nostalgia: Everybody was in evening clothes, and jewels, and the headwaiters recognized you.6


Her mother took up with a nightclub singer, a White Russian called Michel (Mischa) Thorgevsky, one of the many Russian migrs who had fled the revolution in 1917 and were surviving by their wits. A Russian count (real or bogus) could often be found driving a taxi or singing in a bote. Many of them were looking for American heiresses, preferably older, to help recoup their fortunes.


Perhaps Mrs. Gold was recovering her own lost youth, for she was living as if she were in a Scott Fitzgerald novel. She, Mischa, and her son, Dick, used to go out to the cabarets, drink too much, and then the fighting would begin. To Mary Jayne, the endless parties in the apartment on rue Beethoven were upsetting. They violated the memory of her father who had been such a sober and forbidding man. After a Christmas spent skiing in St. Moritz, her mother returned with Mischa to the United States, where they were soon married.


Now that she was once again on her own, Mary Jayne took a suite at the Htel Prince de Galles, a new art deco hotel on avenue Georges V, whose garden-side restaurant Le Jardin de Cygnes and Regency Bar were the pinnacles of modern elegance. The gold-leaf chandeliers and marble floors in its elegant lobby shut out the world, reminding its guests that they were Pariss elite. Almost immediately Mary Jayne also took her first lover. Her timing was interesting. Perhaps having watched her mother with her own new lover, she had decided to assert her independence. But it was likely more complex. To friends, the young French lover remained nameless. Mary Jayne would look back on him and remark that he was the first in a line of unfortunate choices.


The luxurious life charmed her, but what was a young girl to do with herself? She was a bit bored. There was always skiing in Switzerland, though she soon abandoned the trendy resort town of St. Moritz for the less fashionable Davos. Here she met a young woman who was to become one of her closest friends. Yola Letellier was the wife of an investment tycoon who owned the popular daily Le Journal, considered the most Parisian, most literary, and most boulevardier of the newspapers of Paris. The newspaper was the chief sponsor of the exclusive Automobile Club of France located on the Place de la Concorde. The Letellier family ran hotels and casinos in Normandy and counted among their friends the owner of the famous restaurant Maxims. Henri Letellier was a wealthy older man very much in love with his young wife. In French high society it was standard for a man to maintain both wife and mistressit ensured marital stabilitybut it also worked both ways. A method of sustaining the loyalty of a much younger wife was to allow her to take lovers. Yola expertly balanced three separate relationshipsone with her husband; one with her official lover, tienne de Horthy, son of Admiral Horthy, dictator of Hungary; and a secret affair with Lord Louis Mountbatten. There was a famous story that Louis Mountbatten had a pullout double bed installed in the back of his 1931 Phantom II Rolls-Royce to entertain his lovely mistress. Yola managed to maintain all three relationships with affection and high spirits as only a Frenchwoman could. Mary Jayne envied her guilelessness and thought of herself as a mess of Protestant repression and neuroses. Which was, of course, selling herself far too short. She hadnt had to resort to the reflected glory of a famous husband or lover to give herself status or emotional security. She was negotiating dark waters on her own.


In selecting her female friends, Mary Jayne picked those who were daring and outrageous. Personally, however, she thought of herself as a loner. Looking back she would say: I wasnt a very good mixer. Actually I spent a lot of time alone, reading, or just moping.7 She enjoyed the high life and knew how to be gracious and polite but she was detached, on the periphery of the social whirl. She preferred intimate friendships to glamorous connections, adventure to propriety. Some said she was aloof. They said she was something of an enigma.
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